Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-24-2008

III.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL
V.	ARGUMENT
VI.	CONCLUSION

APPELLANTS' BRIEF Page i

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Graybill vs. Swift & Co., 115 Idaho 293, 565 P.2d 763
Horton vs. Gerrett Freight Lines, Inc., 106 Idaho 895, 684 P.2d. 297 (1984)
Hutton vs. Manpower, Inc., 143 Idaho 573, 149 P.3d. 848 (2006)
McGee vs. J.D. Lumber, 135 Idaho 328, 334, 17 P.3d. 272 (2000)
Page vs. McCain Foods, Inc., docket no. 33158
Reynolds vs. Browning Ferris Industries, 113 Idaho 965, 751 P.2d. 113 (1988)
Stevens-McAtee vs. Potlach Corp., Supreme Court docket 33342(21508)
Urry v. Walker & Fox Masonry Contractors, 115 Idaho 750, 769 P2d. 1122 (1989) 9, 10, 11
Idaho Code §72-422 8, 9
Idaho Code §72-424
Idaho Code §72-430(1)
Idaho Code §72-719
Idaho Code 872-804

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

- i. This is a workers' compensation case filed on behalf of Chet Davidson on November 26, 2004. The industrial accident that gave rise to the filing of the within lawsuit occurred on December 30, 1999. Trial was held on November 1, 2006. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Recommendations were entered by the Commission on September 7, 2007.
- ii. The Commission below ruled that Claimant had not met his burden of proving that he was totally and permanently disabled, did not prove that he was entitled to any disability, denied assessment of attorneys' fees, and refused to retain jurisdiction.
- iii. Chet Davidson is a 55 year old high school graduate who grew up in eastern Montana and southern Wyoming. Tr. p. 17. Mr. Davidson graduated from high school in 1967. Tr. p. 17. Chet has pursued, in his adult life, a variety of construction jobs including carpentry, heavy equipment operation, long-haul trucking, and logging. Tr. p. 19, Tr. p. 29, ll. 3-25. Chet also spent a fair amount of time on the rodeo circuit in various events including team roping, bareback and bull riding, having competed successfully as late as 1996. Tr. p. 20, l. 7 p. 21, l. 25. As indicated above, Chet even had a stint operating a business as a long-haul trucker for 3 or 4 years in the early '80s. This venture folded as a consequence of divorce. Tr. p. 22-23.

Chet's past medical history is marked by significant injuries, including at least 3 lower back injuries, the first occurring at age 20 and thereafter at approximately 2 year intervals when he finally received surgery in 1976 owing to an industrial accident that occurred while working construction. Tr. p. 24-27. He also suffered knee injuries, one of which occurred in Alaska in 1986 or 1987, which caused him to change his job from a "choker setter" to operating equipment. Tr. p. 29. More notably, Mr. Davidson suffered a significant accident in 1998, while working in The Dalles, Oregon. This was an industrial accident and was covered by the Washington Labor & Industries system. Chet ultimately underwent a diskectomy surgery for this 1998 injury by Dr. Ronald Vincent in 1990. This particular surgery was intended to be a diskectomy. Tr. p. 31-34. Chet had had some difficulty with

recuperation and returning to work following the sequelae of the 1998 injury. He was awarded a 25% whole man impairment rating from the Washington Department of L&I. Defendant Employer's Exhibit 4, p. 956; Claimant's Exhibit 11, p. 2.

After several years of attempted, albeit not successful vocational rehabilitation, Chet returned to work in 1991 and 1992 working in his customary trade as an equipment operator, although working under the table. *Tr. p. 35-36*. Chet also has had difficulty with alcoholism, ultimately taking the cure at the end of 2000. *Tr. p. 37*.

He commenced working for the Defendant employer in July of 1999 operating heavy equipment, including rollers and excavators. *Tr. p. 38*. Chet suffered a significant accident in November of 1999, which has later been accepted as December 30th in that that was the last day that Chet worked for Riverland. *Tr. p. 40, ll. 11-15*. The injury occurred when Chet was attempting to replace a hydraulic chair on a piece of heavy equipment. The chair apparently slipped out of his hands, struck him on the top of the head, and knocked him to the ground. *Tr. p. 39, l. 15 - p. 40, l.* 14. He was treated conservatively at the offices of North Idaho Immediate Care and ultimately was sent to a neurosurgeon, having first encountered Dr. McDonald, a board certified neurosurgeon in Coeur d'Alene in February of 2000. *Tr. p. 41, ll. 21-23*.

Dr. McDonald, after ordering an MRI, determined that the patient was in need of a three level cervical fusion. Claimant's Exhibit 1, pp. 105-106. Apparently surgery was scheduled for Chet by Dr. McDonald to take place in last February early March of 2000. This surgery did not take place, as the authority for the same was denied by the State Insurance Fund. Tr. p. 42. Ultimately, a second surgical date was set for 6 weeks following the first aborted date, approval for which was also rejected by the State Insurance Fund. Tr. p. 43.

Meanwhile, Claimant had received correspondence from the State Insurance Fund dated 3/7/00 that stated that the State Insurance Fund had conducted a "thorough" review of his claim and determined that Mr. Davidson did not suffer an injury sustained in an accident arising out of the course of his employment. *Claimant's Exhibit 10, pp. 44*. Mr. Davidson retained the undersigned

on 3/14/00. Claimant's Exhibit 10, pp. 41-43. This Counsel promptly wrote to Dr. McDonald asking for further clarification as to the causal link between the industrial accident and the need for surgery. Claimant's Exhibit 10, p. 40. Dr. McDonald responded with clear and unequivocal language in correspondence to the undersigned dated 3/17/00. Claimant's Exhibit 10, p. 35. This information was submitted to the Surety by letter from the undersigned on 3/27/00, at which time the undersigned gave the Surety 1 week within which to approve the surgery and pay appropriate benefits. Claimant's Exhibit 10, p. 34. Hearing nothing within that time period, the Undersigned filed a Complaint against the State Insurance Fund on 4/13/00. Claimant's Exhibit 10, p. 28-30. Coincidentally, on that same date, the State Insurance Fund wrote, again, denying compensability for this claim. Claimant's Exhibit 10, p. 31.

As the record reflects, Chet Davidson did, in fact, receive income benefits after defense counsel was retained and after the Complaint was filed and served on or about 5/9/00. *Defendant's Exhibit 6*. Mr. Davidson ultimately received the surgery that was recommended by Dr. McDonald on August 22, 2001. *Claimant's Exhibit 1, p. 80*. This occurred after Mr. Davidson had been seen by physicians chosen by the Defendant who apparently felt that Mr. Davidson would not benefit from the surgery, a contention disputed by the attending physician. *Claimant's Exhibit 1, pp. 93-94*. It should be noted that at this point in time, Chet had been scheduled to see doctors in Spokane in June of 2000. These two doctors were a Dr. Barbara Jessen, a neurologist, who has never performed neurosurgery in her life, and Dr. Scott Linder an orthopedist, who, in fact, refused to examine Mr. Davidson. In fact, these two doctors wrote on more than one occasion concerning the wisdom of, medical necessity of, and indications for the surgery, having opined initially in June of 2000 and then thereafter in January of 2001. *Defendant's Employer Exhibit 7, pp. 01011-01047*.

It appears as though the amalgam of the opinions of Drs. Jessen and Linder was that not only was Mr. Davidson not in need of surgery but that he should be deemed fixed and stable. Again, after some discourse through the attending physician, the adjuster and the examining doctors, the decision was made to authorize surgery, some 16 months after the industrial accident. Thereafter, Chet faired

rather poorly and had to have a "re-do" of his thoracic cervical fusion in July of 2003. Claimant's Exhibit 1, p. 50. This, after once again State Insurance Fund chosen physicians felt that Chet was stable as opined by Drs. Jessen and Linder. Defendant's Exhibit 7, pp. 01000-01007. Notwithstanding the opinions of these insurance retained doctors, Chet did, in fact, have the second surgery as previously indicated. Regrettably, that surgery was also a failure and had to be repeated on 2/24/05. Claimant's Exhibit 1, p. 20. By this time the panel doctors (Dr. Jessen, again, and a new doctor, Dr. William R. Pace), felt that, indeed, the fusion "re-do" of 2003 was not effective.

As mentioned in the preceding paragraph, Chet Davidson had his third and final cervical fusion in February of 2005. He was deemed surgically stable by his doctor on October 31, 2005. Claimant's Exhibit 1, p. 9. An additional medical complication from the repeated trauma to Mr. Davidson's neck in the form of 3 surgeries is a condition known as Horner Syndrome, a vision impairment, which was clearly a consequence of the injury and ultimate surgical intervention by his attending physician. Claimant's Exhibit 1, p. 6.

Subjectively, Chet described in some detail the impact of these repeated surgeries and his perception of pain and his functional abilities. There is a lengthy discussion of his symptoms that appear commencing on page 48 of the Transcript through page 60. Among those symptoms and limitations are severe headaches, stabbing, burning pain in his neck that he described as a burning or like an icepick sticking into him. *Tr. p. 49, ll. 20-21*. He also describes paralysis in his left arm. *Tr. p. 50, ll. 5-9*. He further describes a lack of grip in his dominant hand and a sensation of pins and needles in his left hand. *Tr. p. 51, ll. 3-7*. Also among his symptoms a sensation if he moves his arm or shoulder just right, a flash and he goes black and then he sees stars. *Tr. p. 51, ll. 14-17*. Alternatively, if he turns his head just right, he also gets the same sensation, i.e. blackness and then stars. *Tr. p. 51, ll. 18-22*. He also experiences limitations in motion in his neck in terms of moving it left to right and up and down. *Tr. p. 52, ll. 1-9*. As it turns out, the ravages of time and inactivity, perhaps, have brought back some of his low back problems and knee problems that just are not getting much better. *Tr. p. 53, ll. 1-15*. He describes the intensity of pain in his neck at different

times of the day as varying from 3-4 in the morning progressing to 10 when he retires for the evening. This pain sensation, again, is punctuated by headaches, pins and needles, and he feels that at times he needs to lie down, get in a chair with his feet up or get into a dark room with the lights off. Tr. p. 55, II. 1-22.

A description of his daily activities paints a picture of an extremely sedentary lifestyle. He is unable to do much in terms of chores around the house, to go shopping, he even describes he doesn't wear shirts with buttons on them because he does not have the dexterity to get his shirts buttoned. *Tr. p. 57, ll. 7-10.* He needs two hands to lift a gallon of milk. *Tr. p. 57, ll. 13-15.* Additionally, he has described apparent personality or temperament changes. By his own description, he has a short fuse, he doesn't like many people, and he doesn't like to be around people. *Tr. p. 58, ll. 11-14.* By his own description, he can think of nothing he has done in the past, employment wise, that he would be fit to attempt. *Tr. p. 60, ll. 15-17.* He has made efforts to cooperate with the Vocational Rehabilitation Division of the Idaho Industrial Commission and was told that there wasn't much for him. At one point in time, he thought that if he could just have enough money to have his own business, he might be able to work at his own pace. When that particular avenue did not appear to be viable from the standpoint of the Industrial Commission Rehabilitation Division, Mr. Davidson lost heart in any rehabilitation efforts. *Tr. p. 61, ll. 11-25.*

Dan Brownell from the Industrial Commission Rehabilitation Division stated that it wasn't very reasonable for Claimant to be looking for work. *Tr. p. 173, ll. 19-24*. Testimony was also provided in the form of Tom Moreland, a vocational rehabilitation expert, who opined that Mr. Davidson was unemployable in the regular competitive job market based upon the effects of his neck injury, it's subsequent impairment and disability. And, in essence basing his ultimate opinion that if Dr. McDonald, as a treating physician, is to be believed, then Mr. Davidson cannot find any work available on a continuous and sustained basis. *Tr. p. 124, l. 19 - p. 125, l. 12*.

This is due to the fact that Dr. McDonald has restricted Chet to sedentary employment that would need to be greatly accommodated by Chet being able to take frequent intermittent rest periods

of up to 30 minutes. These rest periods would occur at unpredictable times. Claimant's Exhibit 1, p. 1.

Defendant Employer presented evidence that Chet was capable of light work. For example, Dr. Vincent examined Claimant on behalf of the State Insurance Fund and felt that, not only, was Chet capable of light work, but the fact that he had had 3 fusion surgeries in the cervical region of his spine, two of which have failed, did not warrant any additional impairment. Likewise, the insurance retained vocational expert opined that Chet was capable of light work and that there were numerous light duty jobs available in the Coeur d'Alene community.

From the foregoing evidence, the Referee concluded that Chet Davidson had not met his burden of establishing that he was totally and permanently disabled, nor had he presented sufficient evidence to justify a finding that he had suffered disability beyond the level of impairment; this in spite of three successive surgical surgeries, two of which were abject failures. The Referee further opined that Mr. Davidson had not met his burden of establishing that the State Insurance Fund had acted unreasonably by denying access to medical care for 16 months and income benefits for approximately 3 months.

IV.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- 1. Whether the Commission erred in failure to consider pain as a component of impairment.
 - 2. Whether the Commission erred by not employing a two tiered assessment of disability.
 - 3. Whether or not the Commission abused its discretion by not retaining jurisdiction.
 - 4. Whether the Commission erred by not awarding attorneys' fees to Claimant.

ARGUMENT

A. The Commission failed to properly assess impairment.

At the outset, the Claimant would certainly acknowledge that the determination of physical impairment is a question of fact for the Commission. This Court will not scrutinize the weight and credibility of evidence relied upon by the Commission and will not disturb any findings regarding the weight and credibility unless they are clearly erroneous. *Hutton vs. Manpower, Inc.*, 143 Idaho 573, 149 P.3d. 848 (2006). Of course, the Court exercises free review over legal questions. *Id.*

In this case, with respect to the impairment aspect of the claim, it is the contention of the Claimant that the Commission was legally deficient in its assessment of impairment. This is not a case where Claimant is saying that there are conflicting impairment ratings and the Commission chose one over the other. Rather, this is a case where the failure of the Commission to consider aspects that are includable in the assessment of impairment was fatally deficient.

Permanent impairment is a word of art within workers' compensation parlance. Statutorily, it is defined as:

. . . any anatomic or functional abnormality or loss after maximum medical rehabilitation has been achieved and which abnormality or loss, medically, is considered stable or nonprogressive at the time of the evaluation . . . Idaho Code §72-422.

The evaluation of permanent impairment is a:

... medical appraisal of the nature and extent of the injury or disease as it affects an injured employees' personal efficiency in the activity of daily living, such as self care, communication, normal living postures, ambulation, elevation, traveling, and nonspecialized activities of bodily members. *Idaho Code* §72-424.

It is for the Commission, after considering the medical evidence, to enter its assessment of impairment. No medical opinion is binding upon the Commission, but medical evidence may be instructive in assisting the Commission in assessing impairment. Of course, the assessment of disability is how that specific impairment suffered by the injured workers translates into his ability

to earn a competitive wage. But the beginning analysis on the journey to assess disability must begin with a meaningful examination of the impairment question.

Urry vs. Walker is the pivotal decision on this question. In the Walker case, the Court held that pain as it relates to functional loss is a medical factor to be considered in determining impairment. The failure by an examining physician to consider pain where it manifests itself in functional loss is legally insufficient. A decision bottomed upon such opinion in assessing a penurious impairment rating should be reversed. Urry v. Walker & Fox Masonry Contractors, 115 Idaho 750, 769 P2d. 1122 (1989).

As the Court indicated in Urry v. Walker:

A doctor should take complaints of pain into account when reaching an opinion regarding impairment.

115 Idaho 750, 756, 769 P.2d 1122 (1989).

[2] We recognize, of course, that a finding on the question of impairment must be upheld when supported by substantial evidence. I.C.§72-732(1). In this case, however, the impairment question was entirely derivative of the pain issue. The Commission made no finding as to whether the hip pain actually existed, whether the pain (if it did exist) was attributable to the 1984 injury) had produced any additional "functional . . . loss" within the meaning of I.C. §72-422. Without a finding on at least one of these points, it is difficult to understand how the Commission could have determined that Urry's impairment with an allegedly painful hip after 1984 was the same as his impairment with an asymptomatic hip after 1979.

155 Idaho 750, 754 P2d, 1122 (1989).

... Rather, the Commission appeared to treat the evidence as relevant to disability – an issue which the Commission then declined to reach because it had found no increased impairment. Thus, the structure and language of the Commission's decision strongly suggest that pain was treated not as a medical factor in determining impairment but rather as a "nonmedical factor" to be considered in determining a disability rating if, and only if, an additional impairment were otherwise found to exist.

[4] Such an approach to the pain issue would be erroneous as a matter of law. Pain can produce "functional...loss" under I.C. §72-422. Because it relates to function loss, pain is a medical factor to be considered in determining impairment itself. When a physician is satisfied that pain is genuine, it can be used – like pathology or loss of structural integrity – to measure the extent of an impaired function.

155 Idaho 750, 754 P2d. 1122 (1989).

Finally, the Commission made it clear that doctor's examining patients in Idaho should take complaints of pain in reaching an opinion regarding impairment, "doctors should take complains of pain into account when reaching an opinion regarding impairment." *Urry v. Walker & Fox Masonry Contractors 155 Idaho 750, 756, 769 P2d. 1122.*

The fatal flaw in the assessment of impairment in this case by the Referee and sanctioned by the Commission is the failure to, by the ultimate fact finder, consider pain as a component of the impairment assessment. That Chet Davidson endures daily excruciating pain has not been challenged by any physician whether attending or insurance retained. As the physician who performed three surgical operations on Chet stated "it would appear to me that, without question, Mr. Davidson has to be considered to have suffered additional impairment from the time of that C5-6 interior discectomy in 1991. As you point out, he has had three additional surgeries, and now has three levels which are fused in his neck. In comparison to that initial surgery of C5-6 without fusion in 1991, all reasonable analysis would lead me to conclude that he has suffered additional impairment in intervening years and that his current opinion it is not all merely pre-existing." Claimant Exhibit 1, pg. 1A.

On the specific issue of pain, again the attending physician: "I do not disagree that Mr. Davidson has a severe chronic pain disorder related to the multiple cervical procedures, with a poor outcome and continued pain." *Claimant's Exhibit* 1, pg. 4.

Even the insurance retained doctor acknowledged that the patient complains of excruciating pain. Consider for a moment two brief passages from the deposition of Dr. Vincent:

- Q. You are not calling him a malingerer, are you?
- A. No.
- Q. That's a different technical term, right?
- A. Yes.
- Q. A malingerer is someone that's faking it, right?
- A. Yes.
- Q. This guy isn't faking his pain?
- A. No.
- Q. He has real pain. There's an organic basis for it. And I think where the rubber meets the road is how much of his pain would one expect from the surgical insults versus how much presents where the rubber meets the road?

A. Yes.

Q. And again, in terms of this, how many liters of pain does he have?

A. I don't think you can discuss it in terms of liters.

Q. Precisely. You can't measure the amount of pain that this person is describing, can you? There's no way to measure it?

A. Well, we have some criteria. We ask people what their levels of pain are.

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