UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

5-16-2008

Davidson v. Riverland Excavating, Inc. Respondent's Brief 1 Dckt. 34626

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

RESTATED ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Commission's conclusion that Claimant is entitled to whole person impairment of 19% for his injuries arising from the 1999 industrial accident is supported by substantial and competent evidence.

2. Whether the Commission's conclusion that Claimant has not sustained any disability in excess of 19% impairment as a result of his 1999 industrial accident is supported by substantial and competent evidence.

3. Whether Claimant can argue on appeal whether or not the Commission abused its discretion by not retaining jurisdiction when the issue was never before raised.

4. Whether the Commission's conclusion that Claimant is not entitled to attorney's fees pursuant to Idaho Code §72-804 is based upon substantial and competent evidence.

III.

WHETHER RESPONDENTS ARE ENTITLED TO ATTORNEY FEES ON APPEAL

Respondents claim entitlement to attorney fees on appeal pursuant to I.A.R. 11.1, which directs the Court to award expenses, including attorney fees, incurred because of an appeal not reasonably grounded in fact or law and filed for an improper purpose. *Shriner v. Rausch*, 141 Idaho 228, 232, 108 P.3d 375, 379 (2005). Attorney fees are awardable under I.A.R. Rule 11.1 when a party requesting them proves (1) the other party's arguments are not well-grounded in fact, warranted by existing law, or made in good faith, and (2) the claims for an improper

II.

purpose, such as unnecessary delay or increase in the cost of litigation. *Frank v. Bunker Hill* Co., 142 Idaho 126, 132, 124 P.3d 1002, 1008 (2005).

IV.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court may set aside an order or award by the Commission if: (1) the commission's findings of fact are not based on any substantial competent evidence; (2) the commission has acted without jurisdiction or in excess of its powers; (3) the findings of fact, order or award were procured by fraud; or (4) the findings of fact do not as a matter of law support the order or award. I.C. §72-732; *Ewins v. Allied Sec.*, 138 Idaho 343, 345-46, 63 P.3d 469, 471-72 (2003). The Court exercises free review over the Commission's legal conclusions but does not disturb factual findings that are supported by substantial and competent evidence. *Ewins*, 138 Idaho at 346, 63 P.3d at 472.

When hearing an appeal from a decision of the Idaho Industrial Commission, this Court must view the facts and all inferences therefore most favorably to the party who prevailed before the Commission. *Garcia v. J.R. Simplot Co.*, 115 Idaho 966, 969, 772 P.2d 173 (1989). When this Court reviews the Commission's factual findings, we must affirm if those findings are supported by substantial and competent evidence. *Mapusaqa v. Red Lion Riverside Inn*, 113 Idaho 842, 748 P.2d 1372 (1987).

In addition, it is within the Commission's province to decide what weight should be given to the facts presented and conclusions drawn from those facts. The Commission's conclusions on the weight and credibility of the evidence should not be disturbed on appeal unless they are clearly erroneous. *Zapata v. J.R. Simplot Co.*, 132 Idaho 513, 515, 975 P.2d 1178, 1180 (1999).

Substantial evidence is more than a scintilla of proof, but less than a preponderance. It is relevant evidence that a reasonable mind might accept to support a conclusion. *Id*.

V.

ARGUMENT

A. THE COMMISSION FINDING THAT CLAIMANT HAS SUSTAINED A 19% PERMANENT PARTIAL IMPAIRMENT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL AND COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

Claimant readily admits that determination of physical impairment is a question of fact for the Commission. What Claimant is arguing are weight and credibility issues between various opinions in the record below. Claimant again on appeal is attempting to attack the credibility of Ronald L. Vincent, M.D. Dr. Vincent, a board certified neurosurgeon, licensed in the State of Washington, has practiced there since 1971. Depo. of Ronald L. Vincent, M.D., Exhibit 1. He has been board certified since November 1973 in neurological surgery. *Id.*, p. 6, ll. 7-12. Dr. Vincent was familiar with Claimant as he had performed an intercervical diskectomy at the C5-6 level in 1990 on Claimant. *Id.*, at 7, ll. 9-17. Claimant was given a Category II impairment for that procedure. *Id.*, at 7, 11-18-25. On April 12, 2006, Dr. Vincent wrote a report stating that Claimant's impairment for the December 30, 1999, injury was 15% whole person impairment based upon the *AMA Guides to Evaluation of Impairment*, 5th Edition. *Id.*, Ex. 2 at 00103. Dr. Vincent clarified his opinion in his correspondence of June 27, 2006, to Jeanne

Kelsch, Senior Claims Examiner, Idaho State Insurance Fund, writing,

At this time, he is capable of performing at least light activities. There are other problems, however, that may prevent him from exceeding light work activities. The first would be the fact that he does have some symptom embellishment. There is also the condition present, and he also has an underlying neurological condition. None of these are related to the injury of record.

(Emphasis supplied.) *Id.*, at Ex. 2, p. 00099. Dr. Vincent testified that Claimant has chronic pain and had it before and after his surgery in 1990 and Dr. Vincent considered it still a part of his condition. Depo. of Ronald L. Vincent, M.D., p. 22, ll. 1-15. Jeffrey McDonald, M.D., agreed with the impairment rating and recommendations and conclusions of Dr. Vincent. Def. Ex. 2, at 00004.

The court has consistently stated it does not scrutinize the weight and credibility of evidence relied on by the Commission and will not disturb any findings regarding weight and credibility unless they are clearly erroneous. *Soto v. J.R. Simplot*, 126 Idaho 535, 539, 87 P.2d 1043, 1046 (1994); *Page v. McKean Foods, Inc.*, 2008 Opinion No. 19 (January 31, 2008). A physician's opinion is advisory to the Industrial Commission, which is the ultimate fact-finder, and will determine the extent of impairment based on all of the evidence obtained and other pertinent factors. *Urry v. Walker and Fox Masonry Contractors*, 115 Idaho 750, 756, 769 P.2d 1122, 1128 (1989). The Commission determined that Claimant had sustained a 15% whole person impairment of cervical spine based upon opinions of Drs. Jessen and Larson, Dr. Vincent,

and Dr. McDonald's agreement with Dr. Vincent's impairment rating. The finding is supported

by substantial and competent evidence.

B. THE COMMISSION'S FINDING THAT CLAIMANT HAS NOT SUSTAINED DISABILITY IN EXCESS OF HIS 19% IMPAIRMENT IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL AND COMPETENT EVIDENCE.

Claimant must bear the burden of proof in establishing that he is disabled in excess of impairment. *Bennett v. Clerk Herford Ranch*, 106 Idaho 438, 440, 680 P.2d 539, 541 (1984). The issue before the Court is whether the Commission's determination that Davidson failed to carry his burden of proving that he was disabled in excess of the 19% whole person impairment is supported by the factual record. *McCabe V. Jo-Ann Stores, Inc.*, 2007 Opinion No. 142 (December 27, 2007).

Under the Idaho worker's compensation law a "disability" is defined as "a decrease in wage-earning capacity due to injury or occupational disease, as such capacity is affected by the medical factor of physical impairment, and by pertinent nonmedical factors." I.C. § 72-102(11). A claimant's permanent disability rating is determined by appraising the combined effect of those medical and nonmedical factors on the "injured employee's present and probable future ability to engage in gainful activity." I.C. §72-425.

As far as the medical factor of disability is concerned, Davidson was assigned a permanent physical impairment rating of 19% whole person. See I.C. § 72-422. However, a claimant's impairment rating is only one, but not the exclusive, element considered in determining permanent partial disability. I.C. §§ 72-425, 72-427. A disability rating may

exceed a claimant's impairment rating after the nonmedical factors are taken into consideration. Baldner v. Bennett's, Inc., 103 Idaho 458, 461, 649 P.2d 1214, 1217 (1982).

Idaho Code § 72-430(1) identifies the essential nonmedical factors: the nature of the physical disablement; the cumulative effect of multiple injuries; the occupation of the employee; the employee's age at the time of accident; all personal and economic circumstances of the employee; and other factors as the Commission may deem relevant.

This Court has long rejected the assertion that whenever a permanent physical impairment rating is given, the disability rating must exceed the impairment rating. *Houser v. S. Idaho Pipe & Steel, Inc.*, 103 Idaho 441, 445, 649 P.2d 1197, 1201 (1982). Although expert testimony on this issue need not be presented, the burden of proof is upon the claimant to provide disability in excess of her impairment rating. *Bennett*, 106 Idaho at 440, 680 P.2d at 541.

This Court has previously held that "the test for determining whether a claimant has suffered permanent disability greater than medical impairment is <u>not</u> whether claimant is able to return to work at some employment." Bennett, 106 Idaho at 440, 680 P.2d at 541 (emphasis added). Rather the correct test is whether, after consideration of the pertinent nonmedical factors outlined in Idaho Code § 72-430, the claimant's "probable future ability to engage in gainful activity" is accurately reflected by the impairment rating, *Houser*, 103 Idaho at 445, 649 P.2d at 1202; *Graybill v. Swift & Co.*, 115 Idaho 293, 294, 766 P.2d 763, 764 (1988).

The Commission found as a fact that Claimant could work at a light or sedentary

occupation in accordance with the medical evidence from Drs. McDonald and Vincent and

expert vocational assessment of Mr. Crum.

The SIF Fund retained Douglas N. Crum, CDMS, as a vocational expert. Crum is a highly experienced professional in his expertise. Depo. of Douglas N. Crum, Depo. Ex 1. Crum prepared a 60-page report. Def. Ex. 16; Depo. of Douglas N. Crum; Ex. 2. Crum is of the opinion that there is no basis to conclude that Claimant has sustained any reduction in his ability to engage in gainful activity and that Claimant has sustained no permanent partial disability in excess of his permanent partial impairment rating for the 1999 industrial injury. Def. Ex. 16 at 01217. In addition, Dr. Vincent approved jobs that are within Claimant's current and preexisting capacities. The jobs Dr. Vincent approved are regularly available in good quantities in Claimant's labor market. *Id.* at 01216.

Doug Crum never met with Claimant. He requested of Mr. Verbillis to meet with Claimant several times. He was not permitted. He would have preferred to meet with him but it does not affect his opinion. Depo. of Douglas N. Crum, p. 9, l. 16 - p. 10, l. 2.

Tom Moreland testified at the hearing. Moreland is a frequent Claimant expert. Moreland did not do a written report. He did not speak with Dr. McDonald. He did not ask Dr. McDonald if Claimant could do light work. Moreland agreed that Dr. McDonald agreed with Dr. Vincent that Claimant was capable of light and sedentary work. Moreland did not do a labor market survey. He acknowledged that Claimant has not done any type of job search. Moreland did not provide Claimant with assistance regarding a job search. Moreland admitted that Claimant is employable if he can perform light duty work. Hr. Tr. p. 143, ll. 11-15. His opinion of the level of Claimant's ability to work is based, in part, upon Claimant's selfdescribed limitations and conditions. *Id.* at ll. 16-20. The problem with Moreland's analysis is that he has ignored Dr. McDonald's approval of light duty work entirely. Instead, he focused on a sedentary work limitation with Claimant's self-imposed and perceived restrictions. Vocational opinions not based upon actual medical restrictions are neither objective nor credible. Finally, Moreland was unfamiliar with Claimant's preexisting history and conditions to the extent necessary. He admitted that he looked at some of the Washington L&I file from 1988 and scanned a portion of it. This, of course, contains a multitude of facts regarding a number of vocationally related issues. Moreland's testimony was not persuasive.

There was a dispute as to Claimant's prior work ability before the 1999 injury. The Commission correctly determined that Claimant offered no substantial and competent to support his assertion that he is capable of heavy or medium on a sustained basis before the 1999 injury. Indeed, the weight of evidence was that Claimant had little earnings from his 1988 injury until he went to work for the Employer in a job in which he sat and operated heavy equipment vehicles. Claimant's disability focus was on disagreement with limitations preinjury and postinjury, which is a factual issue. The Commission's decision was based upon the medical factor per testimony and records of Dr. Vincent and Dr. McDonald, and nonmedical factors including but not limited to: (1) preexisting limitations; (2) effect of preexisting injuries; (3) Claimant's work history; (4) Claimant's earning history per reported income for Social Security (Def. Ex. 1); (5) Claimant's employment history; (6) Claimant's age; (6) vocational work of Douglas Crum (Depo. of Douglas N. Crum); (7) Claimant's return to work attempts; and a myriad of other relevant factors.

C. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION WAS NOT AN ISSUE BEFORE THE INDUSTRIAL COMMISSION AND CANNOT BE RAISED ON APPEAL.

Claimant requested pursuant to Rule XII³ of the Rules of Practice and Procedure of the Industrial Commission calendaring on the issues of: (1) whether Claimant is totally and permanently disabled; (2) apportionment; (3) impairment disability; and (4) attorney's fees. R., p. 34.

Respondents Riverland and SIF filed a response requesting additional issues of apportionment be heard. R., p. 36. Respondent/ISIF filed a response requesting certain additional issues to be heard, not including retention of jurisdiction. R., p. 39.

In Horton v. Garrett Freightlines, Inc., 106 Idaho 895, 896, 684 P.2d 297, 298 (1984),

this court stated,

Idaho's workmen's compensation statutes are designed to provide "sure and certain relief for injured workmen and their families. ..." I.C. Sec. 72-201. This Court has consistently held that legislative policy requires our statues be construed "liberally in favor of the claimant." Miller v. Amalgamated Sugar Co., 105 Idaho 725, 672 P.2d 1055 (1983) (82 IWCD 2 at 496); Hattenburg v. Blanks, 98 Idaho 485, 567 P.2d 829 (1977); Miller v. FMC Corp., 93 Idaho 695, 471 P.2d 550 (1970); Kiger v. Idaho Corporation, 85 Idaho 424, 380 P.2d 208 (1963). In keeping with that legislative intent, it is a prudent practice for the Industrial

3 J.R.P. Rule 8.C is the applicable rule. It states in part, "1. Unless otherwise scheduled for a hearing under these rules, no case shall be set for hearing until the time for filing an answer has passed and a party shall have filed with the Commission and served on all other parties a written request for hearing which shall contain the following:... (b) Clear and concise statement of the factual and legal issue or issues which the party desires the Commission to hear <u>and decide</u>." (Emphasis added.) Commission to retain jurisdiction in cases where, as here, it is clear that there is a probability that medical factors will produce additional physical impairment in the future. In essence, we approved of this practice in Brooks v. Duncan, 96 Idaho 579, 583, 532 P.2d 921, 925 (1975); stating that limitation periods for filing claims "do not bear upon the authority of the Commission to retain jurisdiction regarding an industrial claim.

In a situation where the claimant's impairment is progressive and, therefore, cannot adequately be determined for purposes of establishing a permanent disability rating, it is entirely appropriate for the Industrial Commission to retain jurisdiction until such time as the claimant's condition is nonprogressive. *Reynolds v. Browning Ferris Industries,* 113 Idaho 965, 969, 751 P.2d 113, 117 (1988).

It is important to note that in both *Horton* and *Reynolds* Claimant requested retention of jurisdiction. This was an issue for consideration by the Commission. Here it was not an issue in front of the Commission and cannot be raised on appeal. It is well-established that, in order for an issue to be raised on appeal, the record must reveal an adverse ruling which forms the basis for an assignment of error. *Whitted v. Canyon County Board of Com'rs*, 137 Idaho 118, 121-22, 44 P.3d, 1173, 1176-77 (2002). An issue raised for the first time on appeal will not be considered by the Supreme Court. *Cristo Viene Pentecostal v. Paz*, 160 P.3d 743, 144 Idaho 304 (2007). *See also, Painter v. Potlatch Corp.*, 138 Idaho 309, 314, 63 P.3d, 435, 440 (2003). Since the issue of retention to jurisdiction was not raised as an issue for consideration by the Industrial Commission and there was no adverse ruling, it cannot be considered here.

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